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�� In a vehicle — stop as quickly as safety permits, and stay in the vehicle. Avoid stopping near or 
under buildings, trees, overpasses or utility wires.

�� If the electricity is out — use flashlights or battery powered lanterns.

�� If you smell gas or hear a hissing or blowing sound — open a window and leave the building. 
Shut off the main gas valve outside.

�� Be prepared for aftershocks. 

�� Check for injuries; yourself and those around you. 

�� If there is electrical damage — switch off the power at the main control panel. 

�� If water pipes are damaged — shut off the water supply at the main valve. 

�� Wear sturdy shoes in areas covered with fallen debris and broken glass. 

�� Check your home for structural damage. Check chimneys for damage. 

�� Clean up spilled medicines, bleaches, gasoline and other flammable liquids. 

�� Visually inspect utility lines and appliances for damage. 

�� Do not flush toilets until you know that sewage lines are intact. 

�� Open cabinets cautiously. Beware of objects that can fall off shelves.

�� Use the phone only to report a life threatening emergency.

�� Listen to news reports for the latest emergency information.

�� Stay off the streets.

�� Stay away from damaged areas, unless your assistance has been specifically requested by 
proper authorities.

�� Be aware of possible high water due to dam failures. Go to high ground and remain there until 
you are told it is safe to return to home.
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Winter Storms and Extreme Cold
�� Know the terms used by weather forecasters.

�� Consider purchasing a battery-powered NOAA weather radio and stock extra 
batteries.

�� Keep rock salt to melt ice on walkways and sand to improve traction. 

�� Make sure you have sufficient heating fuel. 

�� Make sure you have an alternate heat source and a supply of fuel. 

�� Install storm windows or cover windows with plastic.

�� Insulate walls and attics.

�� Caulk and weather-strip doors and windows.

�� Keep your car “winterized” with antifreeze. Use snow tires.

�� Listen to the radio or television for weather reports and emergency information.

�� Wear several layers of loose-fitting, light-weight, warm clothing rather than 
one layer of heavy clothing.

�� Wear mittens instead of gloves.

�� Wear a hat — most body heat is lost through the top of the head.

�� Avoid overexertion.

Getting 
Prepared

Dress for the 
weather and keep 
a “winter car kit” 
in the trunk of 
your car.

During a 
Winter Storm

When using 
kerosene 
heaters, maintain 
ventilation to 
avoid a build-up 
of toxic fumes.
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�� Watch for signs of frostbite. If symptoms are detected, get medical help immediately.

�� Watch for signs of hypothermia. If symptoms are detected, get medical help 
immediately.

�� Conserve fuel if necessary by keeping your house cooler than normal.

�� Refuel kerosene heaters outside and keep them at least three feet from flammable 
objects.

�� If you must travel consider using public transportation.

�� Shelter pets inside a protected structure.

Caught in Your Car During a Blizzard
�� Pull off the highway and set your hazard lights to flash. 

�� Hang a distress flag from the radio antenna.

�� Run the engine and heater about ten minutes each hour to keep warm. While the 
engine is running, slightly open a window and keep the exhaust pipe free of snow.

�� Exercise lightly to maintain body heat. Huddle with passengers to stay warm.

�� Take turns sleeping.

�� Be careful not to run the car battery down.

�� If stranded in a remote rural or wilderness area, spread a large cloth over the snow 
to attract attention of rescue personnel.

�� Once the blizzard passes, you may need to leave the car and proceed on foot.

Remain in your 
vehicle and wait 
to be found.
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Power Outages
�� Register life-sustaining equipment with your utility.

�� Consider purchasing a small generator or know where to rent one if you use life 
sustaining equipment that requires electrical power.

�� Post the telephone number of the New Construction, Repairs and Power Outage 
listing of your local utility.

�� If you own an electric garage door opener, learn how to open the door without 
power.

�� Prepare a power outage kit. For short duration outages consider having glow 
light sticks, flashlights, battery powered radio, extra batteries and a wind-up 
clock on hand.

�� Make sure you have an alternate heat source and a supply of fuel. 

�� Have a corded telephone available. 

�� When installing generators, follow the guidelines on page 15 of this handbook.

�� If your house is the only one without power, check your fuse box or circuit 
breaker panel.

�� Turn off large appliances before replacing fuses or resetting circuits.

�� If power is out in the neighborhood, disconnect all electrical heaters and 
appliances to reduce the initial demand and protect the motors from possible 
low voltage damage.

�� If you leave home, turn off or unplug heat producing appliances.

�� Unplug computers and other voltage sensitive equipment to protect them 
against possible surges when power is restored.

Getting 
Prepared

Cordless phones 
do not work 
when the power 
is out.

When the 
Lights Go Out

Report power 
outages to the 
utility company.
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�� Conserve water, especially if you are on a well.

�� Keep doors, windows and draperies closed to retain heat in your home.

�� Keep refrigerator and freezer doors closed. If the door remains closed, a fully loaded freezer 
can keep foods frozen for two days.

�� Be extremely careful of fire hazards caused by candles or other flammable light sources.

�� When using kerosene heaters, gas lanterns or stoves inside the house, maintain ventilation 
to avoid a build-up of toxic fumes. Never use charcoal or gas barbeques inside; they produce 
carbon monoxide. A natural or LP gas heater (e.g. gas logs, etc.) — not butane — is a good 
source of auxiliary heat during power outages. Neither requires electricity, but care must be 
taken to make sure they are properly installed.

�� Connect lights and appliances directly to a generator, not to an existing electrical system.

ÁÁ NOTE: Leave one light switch in the on position to alert you when service is 	
			  restored.
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Hazardous Materials (Incidents or Attacks)
�� Ask about emergency warning procedures. 

�� Ask your Local Emergency Planning Committee (LEPC) (http://www.gaepd.org/
Documents/tier2b.html) about where reportable quantities of extremely hazardous 
substances are stored and where they are used and about community plans for 
responding to hazardous material accidents. 

�� Determine how close you are to freeways, railroads or factories which may be 
used to transport or produce toxic materials.

�� Be prepared to evacuate.

�� Have materials available to seal off your residence from airborne contamination. 
(For more on “shelter-in-place” action, see page 36 of this handbook.)

�� If you are a witness to an event such as an accident, a spill, or a release, call 911 or 
your local fire department.

�� If you hear a warning signal, listen to local radio or television stations for further 
information. Follow all instructions.

�� Stay away from the incident site to minimize the risk of contamination and keep 
children and pets away from the site.

�� If caught outside — stay upstream, uphill or upwind. Try to go one-half mile (10 
city blocks) from the danger area.

Getting 
Prepared
Evaluate the 
risks to your 
household.

Responding to 
a Hazardous 
Material 
Incident

Strictly follow 
all instructions 
given by 
emergency 
authorities.

After a 
Hazmat 
Incident

Follow 
decontamination 
instructions 
from local 
authorities.
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�� If you are in a car — close windows and shut off ventilation. 

�� Evacuate if told to do so.

�� If local officials say there is time, close all windows, shut vents, and turn off attic fans and other 
ventilation systems to minimize contamination.

�� To reduce the possibility of toxic vapors entering your home, seal all entry routes as efficiently 
as possible.

�� If an explosion is imminent — close drapes, curtains and shades.

�� If you suspect gas or vapor contamination — take shallow breaths through a cloth or towel.

�� Avoid contact with any spilled liquid materials, airborne mist or condensed solid chemical 
deposits.

�� Do not eat or drink any food or water that may have been contaminated. Seek medical help for 
unusual symptoms.

�� If medical help is not immediately available and you suspect contamination — remove all 
clothing and shower thoroughly.

�� Place exposed clothing and shoes in tightly sealed containers without allowing them to contact 
other materials: get directions for proper disposal.

�� Advise others of your possible contamination. 

�� Get direction from local authorities on how to clean up your land and property. 

�� Return home only when directed to do so. 

�� Upon returning home, ventilate the house. 

�� Report lingering vapors or other hazards.



Home Emergency Preparedness Handbook

33

Nuclear Power Plants
�� Know the terms that describe a nuclear emergency: 

�� Notification of Unusual Event 
�� Alert 
�� Site Area Emergency
�� General Emergency

�� Learn your community’s warning system. Commercial nuclear power plants are 
required to install sirens and other warning systems within a ten mile radius of a 
nuclear power plan.

�� Obtain public emergency information materials from the company operating the 
plant.

�� Learn the emergency plans for schools, day care centers, nursing homes and other 
places where members of your household might be.

�� Be prepared to evacuate. 

�� Keep calm. Not all incidents result in the release of radiation.

�� Stay tuned to your local radio or television stations for information.

�� Evacuate if you are advised to do so.
�� Close and lock home doors and widows. 
�� Keep car windows and vents closed; use recirculating air. 
�� Listen to the radio for evacuation routes and other information. 
�� Take pets with you unless you are going to a public shelter.

Getting 
Prepared

Time, distance 
and shielding 
are the keys 
to minimizing 
radioactive 
exposure.

Responding to 
a Power Plant 
Emergency

Local 
instructions take 
precedence over 
advice in the 
handbook.
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��   If not ordered to evacuate — stay indoors. 
�� Close doors and windows. 
�� Turn off air conditioner, ventilation fans, furnace and other air intakes; 

close chimney flues. 
�� Go to a basement or other underground area if possible. 
�� Keep a battery-powered radio handy at all times. 
�� If you must go outdoors — cover your nose and mouth with a handkerchief. 
�� Bring pets inside.

�� Shelter livestock and give them stored feed, if time permits. 

�� Do not use the telephone unless absolutely necessary.

�� If you have just been outdoors — shower and change clothes. Put clothing and shoes in a 
plastic bag; seal it up and store it out of the way.
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General Information
Three ways to purify water
In addition to having a bad odor and taste, contaminated water can contain agents that cause 
diseases such as dysentery, typhoid and hepatitis. You should purify all water of uncertain 
purity before using it for drinking, food preparation or hygiene.
There are many ways to purify water. None is perfect. Often the best solution is a combination 
of methods.
Two easy purification methods are outlined below. These measures will kill most microbes 
but will not remove other contaminants such as heavy metals, salts and most other chemicals. 
Before purifying, let any suspended particles settle to the bottom, or strain them through layers 
of paper towel or clean cloth. A third, more difficult method, distillation, is also described below.

1 Boiling. 
Boiling is the safest method of purifying water. Bring water to a rolling boil for 3-5 minutes, 
keeping in mind that some water will evaporate. Let the water cool before drinking.
Boiled water will taste better if you put oxygen back into it by pouring the water back and 
forth between two clean containers. This will also improve the taste of stored water.

2 Disinfection. 
You can use household liquid bleach to kill microorganisms. Use only regular household liquid 
bleach that contains 5.25 percent sodium hypochlorite. Do not use scented bleaches, color-safe 
bleaches or bleaches with added cleaners.
Add 16 drops of bleach per gallon of water, stir and let stand for 30 minutes. If the water does 
not have a slight bleach odor, repeat the dosage and let stand another 15 minutes.
The only agent used to purify water should be household liquid bleach. Other chemicals, such 
as iodine or water treatment products sold in camping or surplus stores that do not contain 5.25 
percent sodium hypochlorite as the only active ingredient, are not recommended and should 
not be used.

ÁÁ NOTE: While the two methods described above will kill most microbes in 
water, distillation will remove microbes that resist these methods, and heavy metals, 
salts and most other chemicals.

3 Distillation. 
Distillation involves boiling water and then collecting the vapor that condenses back to water. 
The condensed vapor will not include salt and other impurities. To distill, fill a pot halfway 
with water. Tie a cup to the handle on the pot’s lid so that the cup will hang right-side-up when 
the lid is upside-down (make sure the cup is not dangling into the water) and boil the water for 
20 minutes. The water that drips from the lid into the cup is distilled.
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Required Materials 
�� 500 sq. ft. of 2, 3 or 4 mil plastic sheeting

�� 2 rolls Duct Tape

�� Bath-size cloth towels

�� Battery powered radio or TV for official 
emergency broadcasts & lantern(s) or 
flashlights with spare batteries

�� Important prescription medications

�� First aid kit

ÁÁ NOTE: The “Required 
Materials” are minimums 
and should be expanded 
based on your plan!

Optional Materials
�� Sleeping bag(s) or blanket(s) & coat(s) 

�� Books, games or other diversions 

�� Cordless or cellular telephone 

�� Drinking water, 1 gal / person / day 

�� Plastic or rubber weather stripping

�� 72 hour kit for each person and pet

�� Port-A-Potty made of a 5-gallon bucket 
lined with garbage bags. Pet litter material 
for pets. Use RV/holding tank chemicals 
or a pail of dirt to cover wastes

Shelter-in-Place
In the event of a nuclear, biological or chemical event or accident, there may not be sufficient 
time or it may not be advisable to evacuate affected areas. “Shelter-in-place” plans should be 
used under these circumstances.

In an emergency where hazardous materials have been released into the atmosphere, it may 
be necessary to “shelter-in-place.” This is a precaution aimed to keep you safe while remaining 
indoors. (This is not the same thing as going to a shelter in case of a storm.)

Shelter-in-place means selecting a small, interior room, with no or few windows, and taking 
refuge there. It does not mean sealing off your entire home or office building. If you are told to 
“shelter-in-place,” keep your radio or TV on to receive instructions and updates.

As with any emergency procedure, pre-planning is essential and requires some material 
purchases, such as the following:
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Planning
�� Locate interior, second story or higher room(s) with as few vents, windows and doors as 

possible in the event of a chemical or biological emergency. DO NOT use basements or other 
underground enclosures as many agents are heavier than air and settle into lower levels. It is 
ideal to select a room with a hard- wired telephone in the room as cellular equipment may be 
overwhelmed or damaged in an emergency.

�� Store materials in each safe room in unlocked closet(s).

�� Determine maximum occupancy by multiplying the room’s width by it’s length and dividing 
by thirty-six. This is the number of people that can remain “sealed in” for up to two hours. (A 
360 sq. ft. room can accommodate ten people for 1 to 2 hours.)

�� Precut plastic sheathing 2 inches wider than the dimensions of each window, vent, door, 
electrical outlets, phone jacks or other opening that leads to the outside and mark each sheet 
for quick installation.

�� Install weather stripping around door(s) and window(s) where possible.

�� Hold a meeting with all members of the household or employees of your business. Discuss the 
location of materials and equipment, installation and emergency notification procedures to be 
used, and hold regular drills to practice the plan.

When a Warning is Issued
�� Do not attempt to get your children from day care or school facilities—staff members there 

have been trained to protect your children and will initiate shelter-in-place procedures where 
they are located.

�� If visitors or customers are present, ask them to stay, not leave.

�� If radiological contamination is suspected, persons coming from the outside should shower if 
possible, and change clothes immediately with the old clothes sealed in a plastic bag.

�� Immediately gather any supplies or materials stored outside the room(s), including pet food, 
and make sure the radio is working. 

�� Close and lock all exterior doors and windows, close all drapes and curtains.

�� Turn off all air handling systems such as furnaces, air conditioners & exchangers and close all 
flues, dampers and vent covers.

�� Gather all occupants, including pets, enter the room(s) and close and lock the door behind the 
last person.

�� Soak bath towels in water and jam into openings under doors or in open vents.
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�� Install pre-cut plastic sheathing by taping around the edges of windows, doors, electric outlets, 
phone jacks, cable TV boxes, heat/AC vents and any other opening to the exterior to form a seal.  

ÁÁ Note: Instructions to “shelter-in-place” are usually provided for durations of 
a few hours, not days or weeks. There is little danger that the room in which you are 
taking shelter will run out of oxygen and you will suffocate.)

�� Turn on your radio, tune in your local “official news” station and listen for further instructions.

�� Stay off the phone, it should be used for emergency purposes only.

�� Emergency officials may decide that an evacuation of the area is the appropriate next step. 
Preparations for evacuation should be discussed and begun during in-place-sheltering if 
evacuation is mentioned as a possibility.

�� Bring pets inside.

�� You should not try to shelter-in-place in a vehicle unless you have no other choice. Vehicles are 
not airtight enough to give you adequate protection from many types of airborne hazards.

�� If you are close to home or other available shelter, go there immediately.

�� If there is no available shelter:
�� Pull off the road in a safe, shady/sheltered spot, turn off the engine and close windows 

and vents.
�� If possible, seal the heating/ air conditioning vents with duct tape.
�� Listen regularly to the radio for advice and instructions.
�� Stay put until you hear it is safe to get back on the road. Then follow the traffic directions 

of public safety officials, as some roads may be closed or traffic detoured.

After an Emergency
�� Carefully remove and dispose of the tape, the bath towels and the plastic sheathing exercising 

care when removing and disposing of these materials in order to minimize contamination of 
your safe room(s) from residual agents.

�� When possible, hire a disaster cleanup company or other professional decontamination service 
to insure the premises is safe for occupancy.

�� Open doors and windows. 

�� Turn on your heating/cooling system to ventilate the structure.

�� Be cautious about letting pets out. Storm damage may cause pets to become disoriented or 
lost. Fallen power lines and other conditions following an emergency can pose life- threatening 
risks to pets.
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Evacuation
�� Authorities may decide to evacuate an area for your protection. It is important to stay calm, 

listen carefully and follow all instructions.

�� If you are told to evacuate, listen to your radio to make sure the evacuation order applies 
to you and to understand how much time you have to pack essentials. Advance warning of 
approaching hazards may be as little as 5 minutes to as long as several hours.

�� If you are told to evacuate immediately:
�� Close and lock your windows.
�� Shut off all vents, furnaces, air conditioning units, and air exchange units.
�� You do not need to turn off your refrigerator or freezer, but you should turn off all 

other appliances and lights before locking your home as you leave.
�� Lock the doors.
�� Move quickly and calmly.

�� Check on neighbors to make sure they have been notified, and offer help to those with disabilities 
or other special needs.

�� Limiting the number of vehicles on the road helps reduce traffic and saves on gas, which could 
be in limited supply. Take only one car and carpool to the evacuation site. 

�� Close your car windows and air vents and turn off the heater or air conditioner.

�� Do not take shortcuts because a shortcut may put you in the path of danger. For your safety, 
follow the exact route you are told to take.
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Online Resources
Federal Government

FirstGov
The Official Web Portal of the US Federal 
Government

http://www.firstgov.gov/

Centers for Disease Control and 
Prevention
Public Health Emergency Preparedness 
and Response

http://www.bt.cdc.gov/

Chemical Stockpile Emergency 
Preparedness Program
Residential Shelter-in-Place

http://emc.ornl.gov/CSEPPweb/SIP/SIP.
htm

CitizenCorps.gov

http://www.citizencorps.gov/

Department of Education
Emergency Preparedness Plans for 
Schools

http://www.ed.gov/emergencyplan/

Department of Health and Human 
Services
Office of the Assistant Secretary for 
Preparedness and Response

http://www.phe.gov/preparedness/pages/
default.aspx

Disaster Assistance

http://www.disasterassistance.gov/daip_
en.portal

Environmental Protection Agency
Emergency Preparedness

http://www.epa.gov/ebtpages/
emeremergencypreparedness.html

Federal Citizen Information Center

http://www.pueblo.gsa.gov/

Federal Emergency Management 
Agency

http://www.fema.gov/

Threat Alert System
Information for Citizens

http://www.dhs.gov/dhspublic/
display?theme=29

Corporation for National and 
Community Service

http://www.serve.gov

Ready.gov

http://www.ready.gov/

Floodsmart.gov

http://www.floodsmart.gov/floodsmart/

United States Department of Commerce
National Ocanic Atmospheric 
Administration (NOAA)

http://www.noaa.gov

U.S. Geological Survey
Natural Hazards

http://www.usgs.gov/natural_hazards/
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Non-Profit Organizations
The Ad Council
The country’s leading producer of public service advertisements (PSAs) since 1942. Click this 
link to view all of the Ready Campaign’s PSAs. 

http://www.adcouncil.org/

American Association of Retired Persons

http://www.aarp.org/

American Medical Association
Center for Public Health Preparedness and Disaster Response

http://www.ama-assn.org/ama/pub/physician-resources/public-health/center-public-health-
preparedness-disaster-response.shtml

American Red Cross
Terrorism - Preparing for the Unexpected

http://www.redcross.org/www-files/Documents/pdf/Preparedness/AreYouReady/Terrorism.pdf

Boy Scouts of America

http://www.scouting.org/

Girl Scouts of the USA

http://www.girlscouts.org/

Home Safety Council

http://www.homesafetycouncil.org/

National Safety Council

http://www.nsc.org/

Neighborhood Watch

Safety Tips

http://www.usaonwatch.org

Points of Light & Volunteer Center National Network
Organization Coordinating Unaffiliated Volunteers in Disasters

http://www.pointsoflight.org/

Insurance Information Institute
Know Your Stuff ® Home Inventory

http://ezasset.appspot.com/viewOnlyNoLogin.do?page=front_kys&brand=iii
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State Agencies
Georgia Emergency Management Agency/Homeland Security

http://www.gema.state.ga.us/

Ready Georgia

http://www.ready.ga.gov

Georgia Department of Natural Resources
Environmental Protection Division
Local Emergency Planning Committee (LEPC) - Reporting Counties

http://www.gaepd.org/Documents/tier2b.html

Traveling With Pets
•	 http://www.fema.gov/plan/prepare/animals.shtm

•	 http://www.petsonthego.com 

•	 http://www.petswelcome.com 

•	 http://www.takeyourpet.com

•	 http://www.getreadyforflu.org/clocksstocks/PetStockpiling.pdf
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Emergency Telephone Numbers
Out-of-Area Contact
Name _________________________________________________

City ___________________________________________________

Telephone (day) _______________ (evening) _________________

Local Contact
Name _________________________________________________

City ___________________________________________________

Telephone (day) _______________ (evening) _________________

Nearest Relative
Name _________________________________________________

City ___________________________________________________

Telephone (day) _______________ (evening) _________________

Household Work Numbers

Father ________________________________________________	

Mother _______________________________________________ 

Other _________________________________________________

The Out-of-Area Contact is one 
of the most important concepts in 
your disaster plan. When disaster 
occurs, you will be concerned 
about the welfare of your loved 
ones.

In a disaster, local telephone 
service may be disrupted. 
However, long distance lines, 
because they are routed many 
different ways out of your 
community, may be open. It is 
also important to remember that 
the telephone company’s 
emergency telephone network is 
the pay telephone system. They 
will restore it before the rest of 
the system. So, if you have change 
to make a pay telephone call and 
an out-of-area contact, you may 
be able to communicate with 
loved ones in the disaster area 
indirectly through your out-of-
area contact.

Reunion Points - After a disaster 
it may be impossible for 
household members to return 
home for one reason or another. 
It is very important that you 
select a meeting point in the 
community where you can once 
again join the members of your 
household.
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Emergency Telephone Numbers

Police Department _______________________________________________

Fire Department _________________________________________________

Hospital ________________________________________________________

Physicians

Name __________________________________________________________

Telephone  ______________________________________________________

Name __________________________________________________________

Telephone ______________________________________________________

Name __________________________________________________________

Telephone _______________________________________________________

Reunion Locations
1. Right outside your home 

________________________________________________________________

2. Away from the neighborhood, in case you cannot return home

________________________________________________________________

Address ________________________________________________________

Telephone ______________________________________________________

Route to try first _________________________________________________
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Notes
Working with neighbors can save lives and property. Meet with your neighbors to plan how the 
neighborhood could work together after a disaster until help arrives.

__________________________________________________
_________________________________________________
_________________________________________________
__________________________________________________
__________________________________________________
__________________________________________________
__________________________________________________
__________________________________________________
__________________________________________________
__________________________________________________
__________________________________________________
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__________________________________________________
__________________________________________________
__________________________________________________
__________________________________________________
__________________________________________________
__________________________________________________
__________________________________________________
__________________________________________________
__________________________________________________
__________________________________________________
__________________________________________________
__________________________________________________
__________________________________________________
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__________________________________________________
__________________________________________________
__________________________________________________
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__________________________________________________
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__________________________________________________
__________________________________________________
__________________________________________________
__________________________________________________
__________________________________________________
__________________________________________________
__________________________________________________
__________________________________________________
__________________________________________________
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